# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-23-2012

# Hall v. Rocky Mountain Emergency Physicians Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39473

### **INTRODUCTION**

This is a case about how to take a patient's pulse, and whether a licensed Idaho Falls physician is qualified, after familiarizing himself with the applicable Pocatello standard of care, and familiarizing himself with Idaho state law prohibiting abusing or exploiting patients in the course of treatment, can testify that removing a client's bra against her will, staring at her exposed breast under her gown and grabbing her breast for 15-20 seconds falls beneath the standard of care expected of a physician's assistant who was supposed to be taking this female patient's pulse.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On or about June 5, 2009, Heather Hall was suffering severe headaches and sought treatment at Portneuf Medical Center emergency room. Ms. Hall sought treatment during the day, when she believed Jeff Johnson would not be present, due to his prior inappropriate conduct toward her. *Affidavit of Heather Hall*, para. 3-4, Rec. p. 77.

At that time, Kurtis Hold(sic), M.D., was the physician on duty. He allowed a physician's assistant he was supervising, Jeff Johnson, to examine and treat Heather Hall for her headache. *Id.* at para. 5, Rec. p. 77.

During the June 5, 2009, visit, Ms. Hall explained she had headaches the night before. Johnson told her to undress from the waist up, but Plaintiff kept her bra on and put on a hospital gown. Johnson stated he needed to check her heartbeat and that he would have to go under her bra wire as it was in the way. Without consent, Johnson then completely lifted Plaintiff's bra up and over, exposing her left breast, looked under her gown and brushed his hand over her left nipple, then continued with the stethoscope while resting his hand on her left breast for approximately 15-20 seconds, while claiming to check her heartbeat. *Id.* at Para 5, Rec. p. 77.

These actions of Heather Hall were not consented to by her and were unnecessary. *Affidavit* of Heather Hall, Para. 5-6, Rec. p. 77.

None of the affidavits filed by the Respondent addressed this specific conduct.

## **STANDARD OF CONDUCT**

Dr. David Bowman is a licensed physician, licensed in Idaho since 1997. He examined the pleadings in this case, and spoke with a Pocatello physician, and expressly stated that he familiarized himself with the standard of care of physicians and physicians' assistants for the period May and June, 2009, the time period in which Heather Hall was fondled by Jeff Johnson. He stated that the conduct of Jeff Johnson was beneath the standard of care required of a physician or physicians' assistant in Pocatello in May and June of 2009. He noted that the affidavits supplied by the Respondent did not state the specific conduct alleged of Jeff Johnson met that standard of care; he noted that such a statement by any of the doctors supplying affidavits would have been "utter nonsense." Dr. Bowman also noted Jeff Johnson's conduct was governed by a statewide standard of care, and that this standard had been violated by Jeff Johnson. Because the sufficiency of affidavit of Dr. Bowman is the central issue on this appeal, it is quoted here verbatim:

1. That I am a physician licensed in Idaho and have been licensed in Idaho since 1997.

2. I have practiced in Idaho Falls since that time and I am familiar with the standard of care of physicians practicing in Pocatello in the year 2009. I am familiar with the standard of care necessary in Pocatello that was required for Jeff Johnson to carry out his duties as to Heather Hall in examining and treating her in May and June 2009.

3. That I am familiar with the standard of care of physicians practicing in Pocatello, Idaho, and know first-hand the applicable standard of care for physicians and physicians' assistants practicing in Pocatello, Idaho, in May 2009 and June 2009 which are relevant to the accusations made by Plaintiff Heather Hall in this case.

4. That I have reviewed the complaint in this case, the medical records of Heather Hall for May and June of 2009.

5. I believe I possess the requisite background and knowledge and expertise to render an opinion concerning whether the treatment given by physicians' assistant Jeff Johnson to Plaintiff Heather Hall met or failed to meet the applicable standard of health care practice of the community of Pocatello, Idaho, as such standard existed at the time and place of the alleged negligence of the physicians and physician's assistant in this case, as such standard then and there existed with respect to physicians and physicians' assistants operating or functioning in Jeff Johnson's capacity.

6. I became familiar with the standard of care for emergency treatment in Pocatello as follows:

- a. I previously hired a doctor from Pocatello to work for me, and he had emergency room privileges in Pocatello. Through him, I became aware the standard of care of emergency room treatment in Pocatello was the same as the standard of care of emergency room treatment in Idaho Falls.
- b. I have toured the emergency room at Portneuf Medical Center, and the standard or care in use there was the same as the standard of care in Idaho Falls, and I am qualified to treat patients in the emergency room in Idaho Falls at EIRMC, and have been so qualified for many years, and have been familiar with the standard of care of emergency room doctors in Idaho Falls for many years.
- c. Prior to signing this affidavit, I personally spoke to another medical doctor in Pocatello who also has privileges to practice emergency medicine in Pocatello. I described the conduct to that physician which Heather Hall described in her complaint in this case which she states occurred on or about June 5, 2009, and asked him if that conduct met the conduct expected of a doctor seeing a patient in the ER in a Pocatello hospital for a headache. He stated that it did not.
- d. I have been told that none of the defendants in this case, who all practice emergency medicine in Pocatello, have stated in their affidavits that the conduct described in Heather Hall's complaint as occurring on June 5, 2009, met the standard of care expected of physicians practicing emergency medicine in Pocatello, Idaho. I am sure they could not, as such a contention would be utter nonsense.

e. Idaho Code Section 54-1814 states the basic grounds for discipline against physicians and surgeons, and also applies to physician assistants:

"<u>Grounds for medical discipline</u>. Every person licensed to practice medicine, licensed to practice as a physician assistant or registered as an extern, intern or resident in this state is subject to discipline by the board pursuant to the procedures set forth in this chapter and rules promulgated pursuant thereto upon any of the following grounds ... (22) Engaging in

## any conduct which constitutes an abuse or exploitation of a patient arising out of the trust and confidence placed in the physician by the patient."

Every doctor in Idaho, whether an emergency room physician, physician assistant or otherwise, knows that fondling a patient in the course of medical examination or treatment violates this section of the Idaho Code and subjects him or his physician assistant to discipline if he engages in it.

6. Based upon my knowledge of the standard of care required of emergency room physicians in Pocatello, and my review of the medical records and the complaint of Heather Hall in this case, I have formed an opinion concerning whether this standard was actually met, and I actually hold this opinion.

7. The opinions I hold are based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty. 8. That said, it is my opinion that the treatment given by Jeff Johnson to Heather Hall, as described in paragraph 15 of her complaint, on June 5, 2009, failed to meet the standard of care of physicians and physicians' assistants in Pocatello in June of 2009. The activity described would be far, far beneath the standard of care expected of any health care provider in Pocatello, whether in an emergency room or otherwise.

9. It is further my opinion that if Heather Hall's report of what occurred on June 5, 2009, is accurate, Jeff Johnson's conduct would probably have caused the "severe emotional distress, pain and suffering and humiliation" which Heather Hall ascribes to his conduct.

Affidavit of Dr. David Bowman, Rec. pp. 71-75. He specifically references, nine times in his

affidavit, that the time period he is referring to is 2009, and the specific place to which he refers is

Pocatello, Idaho. Additionally, he specifically refers to the conduct at issue as violating a statewide

standard of care prohibiting abusing or exploiting patients in the course of medical care.

None of the affidavits of the Respondent addressed the statewide standard of care, or Dr.

Bowman's statement that the conduct of Jeff Johnson, as set forth in the affidavit of Heather Hall,

fell beneath that statewide standard of care.

## **ARGUMENT**

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In Kolln v. Saint Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr., 130 Idaho 323, 327, 940 P.2d 1142, 1146 (1997),

this Court set forth the following standard of review:

When this Court reviews a district court's decision on summary judgment, it employs the same standard as that properly employed by the trial court when originally ruling on the motion. <u>Thomson v. Idaho Ins. Agency. Inc.</u>, 126 Idaho 527, 529, 887 P.2d 1034, 1036 (1994). Summary judgment is proper "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). Finally, this Court liberally construes all disputed facts and will draw all reasonable inferences and conclusions supported by the record in favor of the party opposing the motion. <u>Thomson</u>, 126 Idaho at 529, 887 P.2d at 1036. This is the proper standard to be applied in medical malpractice actions as well.... <u>Rhodehouse v. Stutts</u>, 125 Idaho 208, 210–11, 868 P.2d 1224, 1226–27 (1994).

Our standard of review for a decision whether to admit expert testimony is clear: that decision is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned except upon a showing of abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Rubbermaid Inc.</u>, 129 Idaho 353, 357, 924 P.2d 615, 619 (1996).

Kolln, 130 Idaho at 327, 940 P.2d at 1146.

## DR. BOWMAN'S AFFIDAVIT SUFFICIENTLY ADDRESSED THE LOCAL STANDARD OF CARE.

The medical procedure in this case is so basic it is universally delegated to assistants: taking a patient's pulse. The Court should consider whether the record demonstrates Dr. Bowman is qualified to testify that removing a patient's bra against her will, grabbing her breast, staring at it and hanging on to it for 15-20 seconds constitutes a proper taking of pulse or a violation of a local standard of care.

There was no testimony that taking a patient's pulse requires the expertise of any specialist.

There was no testimony that the standard for how to take a patient's pulse varies from one town to the next in Idaho.

Experts testifying as to the standard of care in medical malpractice actions must show that they have familiarized themselves with the standard for a particular profession for the relevant community and time. *See Kolln v. Saint Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 331, 940 P.2d 1142, 1150 (1997).

*Grover v. Smith*, 137 Idaho 247, 252, 46 P.3d 1105, 1110 (2002), quoting In *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46, 995 P.2d 816 (2000). Dr. Bowman stated that he was familiar with this standard of care for Pocatello for May and June of 2009. Rec. p. 71-72. Dr. Bowman became familiar with the standard of care in Pocatello in 2009 as follows: he hired a doctor from Pocatello to work for him, and through him became aware the standard of care for emergency room treatment was the same in Pocatello as in Idaho Falls. He had personally evaluated the emergency room at Portneuf Medical Center (a Pocatello hospital), and the standard of care for the emergency room was the same in Pocatello as it was in Idaho Falls, and he has been familiar with the standard of care for emergency room doctors in Idaho Falls for many years. Dr. Bowman also consulted a Pocatello physician concerning the standard of care for treating a patient in the emergency room on June 5, 2009, and whether the conduct of Jeff Johnson met that standard, and the Pocatello physician stated it did not. Rec. p. 73.

Respondents cite, in their brief, *Dulaney v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center*, 137 Idaho 160, 164, 45 P.3d 816 (2002). *Dulaney* required the following showing on behalf of the plaintiff to avoid summary judgment on a medical malpractice case "(a) the opinion is actually held by the witness." In Dr. Bowman's affidavit, paragraphs 7-9, he states the opinions given by him are actually held by him. Rec. p. 74.

şł.

Dulaney next requires "(b) that the expert witness can testify to the opinion with a

reasonable degree of medical certainty." Dulaney, 137 Idaho at 164. Dr. Bowman's affidavit

affirms that at his affidavit, para. 8, Rec. p. 74.

Dulaney next requires "(c) that the expert witness possesses professional knowledge and

expertise;" Dulaney, 137 Idaho at 164. Dr. Bowman is a licensed physician in Idaho practicing in

Idaho Falls. He had been in practice in Idaho for 14 years prior to signing his affidavit:

5. I believe I possess the requisite background and knowledge and expertise to render an opinion concerning whether the treatment given by physicians' assistant Jeff Johnson to Plaintiff Heather Hall met or failed to meet the applicable standard of health care practice of the community of Pocatello, Idaho, as such standard existed at the time and place of the alleged negligence of the physicians and physician's assistant in this case, as such standard then and there existed with respect to physicians and physicians' assistants operating or functioning in Jeff Johnson's capacity.

Rec. p. 72. His credentials were not challenged with evidence. There is no evidence that Dr. Bowman was incapable of rendering an opinion concerning how to take a patient's pulse who presented with a headache complaint.

The plaintiff must also show "(d) that the expert witness has actual knowledge of the

applicable community standard of care to which his expert opinion testimony is addressed."

*Dulaney*, 137 Idaho at 164. When considering whether Dr. Bowman was qualified to testify concerning whether you may properly take a pulse in Pocatello by looking under a patient's gown, forcibly removing her bra and the grabbing her exposed breast for 15-20 seconds, Dr. Bowman stated he had the following background which enabled him to give his opinion this was beneath the standard of care in Pocatello (note that throughout his affidavit, Dr. Bowman specifically stated he

was testifying concerning the standard of care in Pocatello for the time period of May and June, 2009):

- He'd hired a doctor to work for him who had previously worked in Pocatello and who had emergency room privileges in Pocatello, and became aware through this doctor that the standard of care for emergency room doctors in Pocatello was no different from that in Idaho Falls, Idaho.
- 2. He had toured the emergency room of Portneuf Medical Center (a Pocatello, Idaho facility) and the standard of care there was no different from that in Idaho Falls.
- 3. He had spoken to a physician in Pocatello who had emergency room privileges and was told that the actions of Jeff Johnson were beneath the standard of care in Pocatello.
- 4. The actions of Jeff Johnson violated Idaho Code Section 54-1814, prohibiting doctors anywhere in Idaho from abusing or exploiting patients.

Rec., pp. 72-74.

Despite the clear facts in this case, and the Respondents' attempts to ignore those facts by asserting conclusory statements in affidavits that whatever Jeff Johnson did, it met the standard of care in Pocatello, Respondent claims Dr. Bowman's affidavit did not have sufficient foundation to allow him to testify that when taking a pulse for a female headache patient in Pocatello, groping the patient's breast falls beneath the applicable standard of care.

Respondent cited *Shane v. Blair*, 139 Idaho 126, 129 75 P.3de 180, 183 (2003). In *Shane*, an out-of-state expert submitted an affidavit concerning whether back surgery performed by a Pocatello orthopedic physician was beneath the standard of care in Pocatello in 1997. The district

court judge excluded the affidavits of the plaintiff and granted summary judgment; the Idaho Supreme Court found the last two affidavits sufficient to defeat summary judgment and reversed.

A fair reading of Dr. Bowman's affidavit demonstrates that he familiarized himself with the standard of care several different ways, and his testimony is all about the standard as it existed in 2009:

This case does not present a situation where an out-of-area doctor is required to become familiar with the local standard of care by consulting with local physicians. Instead,, **\*\*185 \*131** this case deals with a doctor who was already familiar with the standard of care in Pocatello in 1997 based on forty years of experience in dealing with Pocatello orthopedic surgeons. Because Coleman's significant amount of experience demonstrates the requisite personal knowledge of the relevant standard of care in Pocatello in 1997, his affidavit is admissible. Also, Esses's fourth affidavit is admissible, as it satisfies the requirement that an out-of-area expert obtain knowledge of the local standard of care by consulting with a doctor familiar with the local standard of care.

Shane v. Blair, 139 Idaho 126, 130-31, 75 P.3d 180, 184-85 (2003). Similarly, Dr. Bowman's

affidavit shows his significant dealing with Pocatello emergency rooms as well as his consulting a

local Pocatello physician. Under Shane v. Blair, Dr. Bowman's affidavit is admissible. Note in

Shane, the procedure concerned complex back surgery, not the taking of a pulse, which requires no

specialization. Any licensed physician will have the expertise to take a pulse.

Respondent next cites Rhodehouse v. Stutts, 125 Idaho 208, 211, 868 P.2d 1224, 1227

(1994). In Rhodehouse, Plaintiff's expert affidavit concerning a negligent angioplasty procedure

was excluded and the court affirmed. The court stated:

[S]uch expert testimony may only be admitted in evidence if the foundation therefor is first laid, establishing (a) that such an opinion is actually held by the expert witness, (b) that the said opinion can be testified to with reasonable medical certainty, and (c) that such expert witness possesses professional knowledge and expertise coupled with actual knowledge of the applicable said community standard to which his or her expert opinion testimony is addressed; .... *Rhodehouse v. Sturts*, 125 Idaho 208, 212, 868 P.2d 1224, 1228 (1994). The court stated an expert affidavit must show that the expert has familiarized himself with the local standard of care, and how he has familiarized himself with that standard. The court then stated the out-of-state expert had made no effort to state how he become familiar with the standard of care, and then stated specifically why the affidavit was deficient:

In the case at bar, Jenkins stated in his affidavit that he was familiar with the applicable local standard of care but he did not state how he became familiar with this standard. Moreover, nothing in the affidavit indicates that Jenkins contacted a local doctor to inquire about the applicable standard of care.

*Rhodehouse v. Stutts*, 125 Idaho 208, 212, 868 P.2d 1224, 1228 (1994). *Rhodehouse* does not help Respondents, because Dr. Bowman specifically stated how he became familiar with the standard of care *and* that he had consulted a Pocatello physician with emergency room privileges.

Respondent next cites *Perry v. Magic Valley Regional Medical Center*, 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000). The Supreme Court in Perry affirmed a judgment against the medical provider in the amount of \$1,700,000. In doing so, the Supreme Court approved the trial court's admitting the affidavit of a Utah nurse who had not interviewed any local expert, but had relied upon a textbook which was in use nationally as demonstrating the procedure in question was governed by a national standard of care. Respondents cite some interesting principles from *Perry*, but the holding of that case is squarely against the Respondents here.

*Perry* stands for the rule that if the expert testifies a national standard applies, and can demonstrate that, it is not even necessary to consult a local physician:

An expert's review of a deposition stating that the local standard does not vary from the national standard, coupled with the expert's personal knowledge of the national standard, is sufficient to lay a foundation for the expert's opinion. *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000). Dr. Bowman referred to a statewide standard, based upon an Idaho statute. Certainly, he was more qualified to address how to take a pulse in a community 50 miles away from Idaho Falls than was the Utah nurse qualified to testify to the procedure of intramuscular injections in *Perry*, without having contacted anyone in the local community. Marlys Massey consulted a text used nationally; Dr. Bowman consulted a statute applied statewide. Under the *Perry* standard, the testimony of Dr. Bowman is admissible.

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