Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-19-2012

Hall v. Rocky Mountain Emergency Physicians Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39473

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Properly Concluded That Plaintiff's Claims Are Governed By Idaho's Medical Malpractice Act.

Although not clearly set forth in her opening brief, Plaintiff's repeated defamatory representation of Respondent Johnson's efforts to auscultate her heart and lungs during his examination appears aimed at pursuing both a battery claim and a malpractice theory.² Plaintiff cites to no authority to support a battery claim and Respondents contend that under the facts of this case no such claim is recognized against a health care provider under Idaho law. It is undisputed that the patient presented to the emergency department at Portneuf Regional Medical Center complaining of a range of symptoms, including headache, radiating pain, nausea, chills, night sweats, dizziness and light sensitivity. (R. p. 31). As part of the reasonable and necessary evaluation for this patient, Respondent Johnson conducted a physical examination which required him to auscultate the patient's heart and lungs with his stethoscope. This act, performed in the course and scope of providing medical care to evaluate the patient's condition, required Respondent Johnson to partially remove the patient's bra and place the stethoscope on the patient's chest in order to listen to her internal organs.

It is well settled that the requirements of Idaho Code §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013 apply to "any case, claim or action for damages due to injury . . . brought against any physician [,]. . . physicians' assistant . . . or any person vicariously liable for the negligence

² It is worth noting that in the complaint Plaintiff describes the conduct at issue as follows: "Without consent, Johnson then completely lifted Plaintiffs's bra up and over, exposing her left breast, looked under her gown and brushed his hand over her left nipple, then continued with the stethoscope while resting his hand on her left breast for approximately 15-20 seconds, while claiming to check her heartbeat." (R. p. 4). Yet, hoping to invoke some passion, throughout her brief she falsely describes Respondent Johnson as having "remov[ed] a patient's bra against her will, grabbing her breast, staring at it and hanging onto it for 15-20 seconds . . ." (See i.e. Plaintiff's opening brief dated May 22, 2012 at p. 1, 5, 7, 8, 9, 12, 14).

of them . . . on account of the provision of or failure to provide health care or on account of any matter incidental or related thereto. " **See** Idaho Code § 6-1012. Thus, any claim brought against a health care provider for claims involving the provision of health care must be pled or will be deemed to have been pled as a claim for medical malpractice. **See Litz v. Robinson**, 131 Idaho 282, 284, 955 P.2d 113, 115 (Idaho App. 1997); **Hough v. Fry**, 131 Idaho 230, 233, 953 P.2d 980, 983 (1998).

A plaintiff "cannot avoid the requirements of Idaho Code §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013 by claiming his action is based on an intentional tort rather than negligence." *Litz v. Robinson*, 131 Idaho 282, 284, 955 P.2d 113, 115 (Ct. App. 1997). "The form of the action is not the decisive test in actions against physicians, surgeons and dentists for malpractice. The decisive test is the subject of the action." *Id.* at n.1. Accordingly, "to determine if I.C. § 6-1012 applies, courts need only look to see if the injury occurred <u>on</u> account of the provision of or failure to provide health care." *Jones v. Crawforth*, 147 Idaho 11, 16, 205 P.3d 660, 665 (2009) (quoting *Hough v. Fry*, 131 Idaho 230, 233, 953 P.2d 980, 983 (1998)) (emphasis in original).

The case of *Litz v. Robinson* is representative of the Idaho appellate courts' response to a plaintiff's attempt at circumventing Idaho Code §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013. In *Litz*, the plaintiff argued Idaho Code §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013 did not apply to his claims because his cause of action was based on the intentional tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Court of Appeals rejected that reasoning, noting that the "underlying nature of [the] claim . . . was inextricably intertwined with a claim of negligence." 955 P.2d at 115 (citing to *Trimming v. Howard*, where this Court rejected a plaintiff's argument that his cause of action against a surgeon was grounded in contract,

reasoning that "the basic allegations of the complaint are directed solely to carelessness, negligence and misconduct as the proximate cause of the injury claimed to have been suffered." 52 Idaho 412, 415-16, 16 P.2d 661, 662 (1932)). Thus, the plaintiff was unable to avoid the statutory requirements applicable to a claim for medical negligence by "artfully labeling his cause of action as a claim for the intentional infliction of emotional distress."

ld.

Another decision addressing this issue can be found in the case of Hough

v. Fry. In *Hough*, the plaintiff argued her cause of action was not governed by I.C. §§ 6-1012 and 6-1013, arguing instead that it was a claim for injuries resulting from the "ordinary negligence" of her therapist in failing to support her while she was on a balance board. *Hough*, 131 Idaho at 233, 953 P.2d at 983. This Court rejected that argument, stating:

"[t]here is nothing in the statute or its statement of purpose to indicate that the type of negligence, ordinary or professional, has anything to do with the application of *Section 6-1012*. Rather, by its plain and unambiguous language, the statute applies when the damages complained of result from providing or failing to provide health care." Id. (emphasis added).

As the District Court in this case correctly pointed out, the Plaintiff alleges that a battery "took place during and in connection with the provision of medical treatment–listening to a heartbeat with a stethoscope. Surely these alleged acts fall under the purview of 6-1012, especially in light of the language [in that statute] including 'any matter incidental or related to the provision of medical care.'" (Ex. A, p.7]). The District Court correctly noted that "the Idaho appellate courts disfavor allowing plaintiffs to escape the requirements of 6-1012 and 6-1013 by 'artfully' labeling their causes of action as something other than medical malpractice when the alleged actions are connected to and intertwined with the provision of medical care." (Ex. A, p. 8). In the absence of any authority to the contrary, the District Court properly treated all her claims, including claims for intentional torts, as but one claim for medical malpractice.

B. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Concluded Dr. Bowman's Affidavit Failed To Comply With The Admissibility Requirements Of Rule 56(e) And Idaho Code § 6-1013.

To be admissible, an affidavit opposing summary judgement must "set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." I.R.C.P. 56(e). The question of admissibility of affidavits under Rule 56(e) is a "threshold question to be analyzed before applying the liberal construction and reasonable inferences rules when reviewing motions for summary judgment." *Rhodehouse v. Stutts*, 125 Idaho 208, 211, 868 P.2d 1224, 1227 (1994).

"Admissibility of expert testimony requires personal knowledge." *Shane v. Blair*, 139 Idaho 126, 129, 75 P.3d 180, 183 (2003). It is well settled that experts testifying as to the standard of practice in medical malpractice actions must show that they have familiarized themselves with the standard: 1) for the <u>relevant community</u>; 2) for the <u>relevant</u> time; and, 3) for a <u>particular profession</u>. *Arregui v. Gallegos-Main*, Docket 38496 (Idaho May 4, 2012); *Ramos v. Dixon*, 144 Idaho 32, 37, 156 P.3d 533, 538 (2007); *Perry v. Magic Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000); *Kolln v. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 331, 940 P.2d 1142, 1150 (1997). Idaho Code § 6-1012 defines the relevant community and "is both site and time specific." 156 P.3d at 538 (quoting *Gubler v. Boe*, 120 Idaho 294, 296, 815 P.2d 1034, 1036 (1991)). "[Idaho Code] Section 6-1013 requires actual knowledge of the standard of care in the community where the alleged malpractice occurred." *Morris v. Thomson*, 130 Idaho 138, 146, 937 P.2d 1212, 1220 (1997). "They must also state how they became familiar with the standard of care for the particular professional." *Perry*, 134 at 51, 995 P.2d at 821 (citing *Kolln v. St. Luke's Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 130 Idaho 323, 331, 940 P.2d 1142, 1150 (1997)) (emphasis added). As outlined herein and as properly concluded by the District Court, the affidavit of Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Bowman, fails to comply with the foregoing requirements.

1. As an of-of-area physician, Dr. Bowman has not set forth facts showing he is familiar with the location and time specific requirements regarding the standard of health care practice applicable to each of the Defendant health care providers.

Dr. Bowman is not a Pocatello physician, nor is there any evidence in his affidavit that he is an emergency room physician or an emergency room physicians' assistant. Thus, in order for Dr. Bowman's opinions against the Respondents to be admissible for purposes of opposing the defense motion for summary judgment, he was required to demonstrate—by setting forth "facts as would be admissible in evidence," that he had taken affirmative steps in order to acquire actual knowledge of the Pocatello standard of health care practice applicable to each of the Respondents. See Rule 56(e) and Idaho Code § 6-1013(1)(c).

In an attempt to comply with these requirements, Dr. Bowman states in his affidavit that he spoke with two secret consultant physicians from Pocatello regarding the allegations in the Complaint. (R. p. 73). Of these secret consultants, one purportedly had emergency room privileges in Pocatello in the past while the other purportedly had current emergency room privileges in Pocatello. (R. p. 72-3 at para 6(a) and (c). There is no reference to whether these unknown consultants ever had actual knowledge of the

applicable standard of practice for 2009 for each of the Defendants in order to be able to convey such information to Dr. Bowman. Throughout his affidavit, Dr. Bowman <u>never</u> states that the secret consultant doctor(s) ever told him they were familiar with the standard applicable to the Defendants for the 2009 time frame.

One of the anonymous doctors purportedly "had emergency room privileges in Pocatello," but there is no indication of **when** he purportedly had such privileges (perhaps many years *before* or since the relevant time period). (R. p. 72). Likewise, the other anonymous physician purportedly "has privileges to practice emergency medicine in Pocatello," but there is no indication of **when** he acquired such privileges (perhaps years *after* the relevant time period). (R. p. 73). Again, these deficiencies render Dr. Bowman's affidavit inadmissible due to a lack of foundation. Thus, Dr. Bowman's affidavit fails to create an issue of fact because it does not set forth any "facts as would be admissible in evidence."

This Court has previously ruled that no uniform standard of health care practice can be assumed within the state of Idaho. *Ramos*, 144 Idaho at 38, 156 P.3d at 539. In fact, this Court has previously addressed the very question of whether the applicable standard of health care practice is the same for Pocatello and Idaho Falls, and found that it is not. *See Gubler v. Boe*, 120 Idaho 294, 815 P.2d 1034, (1991) (upholding the trial court's decision to exclude plaintiff's expert witness testimony where the expert had not familiarized himself with the community standard of health care practice in Pocatello, as he had spoken only with a doctor practicing in Idaho Falls). Accordingly, Dr. Bowman was required to show how he became familiar with the relevant standard as it existed in <u>Pocatello</u> in 2009.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF - 14

Plaintiff mis-states the relevant time period requirement of Idaho Code §6-

1012 examined and explained by this Court in Dulaney v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.,

137 Idaho 160, 45 P.3d 816 (2002). In Dulaney, the Court outlined remarkably similar

foundational deficiencies which it held rendered a plaintiff's expert affidavit inadmissible

for purposes of opposing a defense motion for summary judgment. There the Court noted:

Even assuming that the use of an anonymous informant is an acceptable manner for adequately familiarizing an out-of-area physician of the local standard of care. Dr. Stump's affidavit does not allege specific facts showing that the anonymous professor was familiar with the standard of care for orthopedic surgeons in Boise in 1994. The professor stated that he had trained orthopedic physicians "that presently practice in Boise," but he did not state whether they were practicing in Boise in 1994. He stated that he has "maintained personal and professional relationships with physicians in Boise," but he did not state whether he did so during 1994. He likewise did not state that he had ever discussed with these orthopedic physicians the standard of care for an orthopedic physician practicing in Boise in 1994. He stated that he had taught and lectured in Boise, but did not state when he did so. Dr. Stump's affidavit does not allege any specific facts showing that the anonymous professor was familiar with the standard of care for orthopedic surgeons in Boise in August 1994. The professor's conclusory statement that he was familiar with the standard of care in Boise in 1994 is simply not sufficient.

Dulaney, 137 Idaho at 169, 45 P.3d at 825.

Plaintiff reiterates that "Dr. Bowman repeats over and over, nine times, that

the specific timeframe of conduct he refers to is May and June of 2009." Appellant's Brief

p. 12. That argument misses the point. The deficiency that the District Court held

rendered Dr. Bowman's affidavit inadmissible did not turn on whether he had properly identified the time period of the alleged misconduct. The issue is whether his affidavit demonstrates an adequate foundation for the conclusion that he has actual knowledge of the applicable local standard of practice in 2009. The defense contends that Dr. Bowman's affidavit fails to do so and was properly ruled inadmissible by the District Court.³

2. Dr. Bowman has not demonstrated that he is familiar with the standard of health care practice applicable to each of the Respondents' class of health care provider.

While it is clear from his affidavit that Dr. Bowman is an out-of-area physician,

it is equally <u>unclear</u> from his affidavit what <u>sort</u> of physician Dr. Bowman is. For example, it is unknown from the face of his affidavit if he is a podiatrist, dermatologist, oncologist, etc.⁴ Presumably he is not an emergency room physician or else he would have simply stated such in his affidavit.⁵ This creates additional foundational problems as it relates to the court's ability to address the sufficiency of Dr. Bowman's affidavit. (R. p. 71–75).

Idaho Code § 6-1012 "makes clear that a health care provider must be compared to a health care provider with similar training and in the same category or class, 'taking into account his or her training, experience, and fields of medical specialization.'"

³ As this Court pointed out in its recent medical malpractice decision in *Arregui v. Gallegos-Main*, although the affidavit in *Dulaney* "provided much more detail and facts regarding the anonymous professor's knowledge and experience; nevertheless, the Court still found the affidavit lacked foundation because it did not relate the professor's experience to the time period in question." Docket No. 38496, slip op. at 27 (Idaho May 4, 2012). Dr. Bowman's affidavit suffers from each and every deficiency the *Dulaney* Court found in the Stump affidavit. Accordingly, the Bowman affidavit is equally inadmissible.

⁴ According to the Idaho State Board of Medicine, Dr. Bowman is a doctor of osteopathy with a specialty in family medicine working at a skin clinic in Idaho Falls. There is no reference to him being in any way affiliated with emergency medicine. See <u>https://isecure.bom.idaho.gov/BOMPublic/LicensePublicRecord.aspx?Board=BOM&LicenseType=O&LicenseNo=175</u>. Last accessed on July 11, 2012.

⁵It arguably was the duty of Plaintiff's counsel to assist Dr. Bowman in avoiding these most basic errors. As this Court has stated, "[t]he attorney must be involved in advising the expert as to how to learn the applicable standard of care and determining whether the expert has done so." *Ramos v. Dixon*, 144 Idaho 32, 37, 156 P.3d 533, 538 (2007).

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